Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect



Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/semcdb

Review Regulation of blood vessel sprouting

John C. Chappell^{a,b}, David M. Wiley^{a,b}, Victoria L. Bautch^{a,b,c,*}

^a Department of Biology, The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, NC 27599, USA

^b McAllister Heart Institute, The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, NC 27599, USA

^c Lineberger Comprehensive Cancer Center, The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, NC 27599, USA

A R T I C L E I N F O

Article history: Available online 14 October 2011

Keywords: Angiogenesis Vessel sprout Endothelial cell VEGF Notch

ABSTRACT

Blood vessels are essential conduits of nutrients and oxygen throughout the body. The formation of these vessels involves angiogenic sprouting, a complex process entailing highly integrated cell behaviors and signaling pathways. In this review, we discuss how endothelial cells initiate a vessel sprout through interactions with their environment and with one another, particularly through lateral inhibition. We review the composition of the local environment, which contains an initial set of guidance cues to facilitate the proper outward migration of the sprout as it emerges from a parent vessel. The long-range guidance and sprout stability cues provided by soluble molecules, extracellular matrix components, and interactions with other cell types are also discussed. We also examine emerging evidence for mechanisms that govern sprout fusion with its target and lumen formation.

© 2011 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1	Interduction	1005
1.	Introduction	. 1005
	1.1. Overview of blood vessel sprouting	.1006
2.	Blood vessel sprout initiation	.1006
	2.1. Tip cell selection and lateral inhibition	. 1006
	2.2. Effects of blood flow on vessel sprouting	. 1008
3.	Vessel sprout guidance	.1008
	3.1. Local sprout guidance cues	. 1008
	3.2. Vessel sprout extension and stability	. 1008
	3.3. Stereotypical vs. free-form vascular patterning	. 1009
4.	Sprout maturation into a vascular branch	. 1009
	4.1. Blood vessel sprout fusion	.1009
	4.2. Lumen formation	. 1009
5.	Conclusions and perspectives	.1009
	Acknowledgements	. 1010
	References	. 1010

1. Introduction

As the vasculature forms, blood vessels must expand and form interconnected networks to deliver oxygen and nutrients to developing tissues and organs. They do this primarily via sprouting angiogenesis [1]. Sprouting angiogenesis (shortened to "sprouting" in this review) is a reiterative process that seems simple

E-mail address: bautch@med.unc.edu (V.L. Bautch).

at first glance, but in reality involves numerous levels of regulation that control critical signals and endothelial cell responses in both time and space. In fact, a coalescing theme of recent exciting research is that spatial organization of endothelial cell behaviors – and hence the signals that control those behaviors – is crucial to proper vessel sprouting and network expansion. Moreover, these behaviors must be integrated within the developing vessel network via cell-cell communication. Thus endothelial cells must "know" the status of neighboring cells in the developing vessel and adjust their behaviors accordingly. The emerging model is that the developing vasculature is analogous to a bee colony. Like individual bees in a bee colony, individual endothelial cells have different roles, or phenotypes, and different responses to incoming

^{*} Corresponding author at: Department of Biology, CB#3280, The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, NC 27599, USA. Tel.: +1 919 966 6797; fax: +1 919 962 8472.

^{1084-9521/\$ -} see front matter © 2011 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.semcdb.2011.10.006



Fig. 1. Endothelial heterogeneity in vessel sprouting. In this model, endothelial cell heterogeneity is important for proper sprouting. In response to a stimulus, if all endothelial cells divide, no sprouting occurs, and if all cells migrate (sprout), a productive sprout does not form. When some endothelial cells migrate (i.e. become tip cells), while other endothelial cells divide and/or form lagging cells (i.e. stalk cells), proper blood vessel sprouts form.

information. For example, in response to angiogenic cues such as VEGF-A, some endothelial cells migrate and initiate sprouting, while others undergo cell division (Fig. 1). However, unlike most bees, many endothelial cells change their phenotypes over time, so that what was once the leading cell, or tip cell, of the sprout, becomes a lagging cell, or stalk cell. How endothelial cell phenotypes are specified, regulated, and dynamically modulated is the focus of this short review. Many excellent reviews cover vascular development more globally [2–5], and the other chapters in this volume cover other important aspects of blood vessel formation. We provide a description of the endothelial cell behaviors involved in sprouting angiogenesis, then cover in detail current information regarding initiation of vessel sprouting, sprout guidance, and sprout fusion to form new connections.

1.1. Overview of blood vessel sprouting

Vessel sprouting is a process carried out by endothelial cells. A primary vessel, such as the dorsal aorta, forms via vasculogenesis, the coalescence and differentiation of endothelial progenitor cells. Sprout initiation involves one endothelial cell responding to angiogenic stimuli by extending filopodia, and then migrating outward from the parent vessel while still connected to its neighbors (Fig. 2). This endothelial cell may initiate sprouting because it experiences higher angiogenic factor signaling than its neighbors, or it may be a stochastic process. Nevertheless, the chosen initiating endothelial cell, now called a tip cell, initiates signaling that prevents neighboring endothelial cells from sprouting. It also likely signals to neighbors to provide local guidance cues that help direct the emerging sprout away from the parent vessel. As the tip cell moves further away from the parent vessel, neighboring cells remain attached to the tip cell and migrate behind it to form a stalk. The stalk cells are more proliferative than the tip cells, and they divide and reorganize along the stalk and within the parent vessel to increase the mass and surface area of the growing vessel. The parent vessel often has a central lumen, and as the sprout extends and explores the environment for new connections, a lumen begins to form in the sprout that eventually will connect with the lumen of the parent vessel and extend through the new connection. How the tip cell is guided at significant distances from the parent vessel is not

clear. In some cases other embryonic tissues, such as somites, provide both a physical barrier and negative signaling cues, leaving the space between somites as the "path of least resistance" for emerging sprouts. In many other environments, however, these barriers and cues are not obvious. In these scenarios the forward motion may be more of a "trial and error" process whereby the tip cell samples the environment via its filopodia. How a point is chosen for connection and fusion is even less well-understood. Most sprouts eventually find another sprout or a vessel and set up cell junctions with one or more endothelial cells in that structure. As mentioned, the lumen eventually runs through the new connection to allow for new patterns of blood flow. This new stretch of blood vessel may then act as the parent vessel for another round of sprouting, setting up the reiterative nature of the process. Furthermore, the vessel network that forms as a result of sprouting is often remodeled in response to physiological cues such as hypoxia and blood flow, but the initial pattern – and sometimes the final pattern – of a particular vessel network is set up by these elegantly regulated endothelial cell behaviors.

2. Blood vessel sprout initiation

The VEGF-A (vascular endothelial growth factor-A) signaling pathway has been established as a potent and essential regulator of angiogenesis [1,6]. The VEGF-A ligand is expressed by many tissues and is induced by hypoxic conditions [7]. Endothelial cells express the primary VEGF-A signaling receptor, VEGF receptor -2 (VEGFR-2) (called Flk-1 in mouse), a tyrosine kinase receptor that positively drives the mitogenic and chemotactic responses of endothelial cells in response to the VEGF-A ligand. Interestingly, angiogenic spouts are composed of leading cells which are responsive to extrinsic stimuli (i.e. extend multiple filopodia) and neighboring cells that are largely unresponsive in terms of morphogenesis but respond to VEGF-A by dividing. This heterogeneous organization suggests that angiogenic vessels are composed of specialized cells. In the following sections, we discuss the mechanisms that set up and maintain this endothelial heterogeneity.

2.1. Tip cell selection and lateral inhibition

Tip cells are specialized cells that respond to environmental cues to direct the migration and patterning of adjacent stalk cells. Endothelial tip cells can be distinguished from their neighboring stalk cells by the expression of unique markers and extensive filopodia (Fig. 2). They are analogous to the growth cones of axons [8] and to the tracheal tip cells that contribute to Drosophila trachea formation [9] in that these specialized cells use filopodia to sense and respond to extrinsic cues. During Drosophila tracheal development, FGF (Branchless) is a chemoattractant that induces filopodial extensions in tracheal tip cells [9], and Notch signaling appears to regulate tip/stalk cell dynamics by affecting FGFR (Breathless) levels [10]. In vascular development, VEGF-A replaces FGF as the incoming signal.

The Notch signaling pathway is highly conserved [11–13]. There are five DSL (Delta, Serrate, LAG-2) ligands: Delta-like 1 (Dll1), Dll3, Dll4, Jagged-1 (Jag-1), and Jag-2 that bind to four Notch receptors (Notch1–4). The Notch receptors and ligands are all trans-membrane proteins. Consequently, Notch signal transduction requires cell-cell contact. Binding of a DSL ligand to a Notch receptor initiates proteolytic cleavage of the Notch intracellular domain (NICD). The NICD translocates to the nucleus where it co-activates downstream transcriptional targets such as Hairy/Enhancer of Split (Hes), Hes-related proteins (Hey/HRT/HERP), and Notch-regulated ankyrin repeat protein (Nrarp). The Notch signaling pathway utilizes the process of



Fig. 2. Overview of stages of blood vessel sprouting. (A) Initiation of blood vessel sprouting occurs when soluble cues such as VEGF (green) "select" one endothelial cell to be the tip cell (red) and lead the outward extension of the sprout. (B) The local sprouting environment contains soluble factors, ECM components, and cell-based guidance cues to facilitate proper guidance of the emerging tip cell. (B', inset from B) VEGF signaling through VEGFR-2 (Flk-1) increases DII4 expression in tip cells, which engages with Notch receptors on adjacent lateral base cells (blue) and promotes signaling downstream of Notch intracellular domain (NICD) cleavage, including expression of soluble VEGFR-1 (Flt-1, blue Y's). (C) Strong negative guidance cues often facilitate stereotypical patterning of vessels (upper left sprout), while "free-form" patterning relies on vessicles or through maintaining an existing lumen up to the tip cell.

lateral inhibition to regulate biological processes. Lateral inhibition is achieved when a cell expressing the highest levels of ligand activates Notch in the surrounding cells, which often induces in these neighboring cells a particular fate distinct from that induced in the ligand-expressing neighbor [14]. Increasing evidence suggests that during sprouting Notch-mediated lateral inhibition is important not in endothelial cell fate decisions, but in regulating tip and stalk cell phenotypes during angiogenesis. These phenotypes are dynamic and thus not literally cell fates.

The tip cells of angiogenic sprouts can be distinguished from stalk cells by the absence of a lumen, the extension of numerous prominent filopodia [15–17], and heightened expression of Dll4, platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF)-b, UNC5b, VEGFR-2, and Flt-4 [17–20]. Imaging of angiogenic sprouts demonstrates that once a sprout emerges, endothelial cells compete for the tip cell position, highlighting the dynamic nature of the molecular mechanisms regulating tip-stalk cell selection among neighbors [21]. The tip cell presumably experiences higher VEGF signaling than its neighbors, and Notch signaling conveys the status of VEGF signaling among neighboring cells.

Treatment of developing vessel networks with γ -secretase inhibitors such as DAPT, which inhibit Notch signaling by blocking the cleavage of NICD, causes excessive vessel sprouting and

branching in zebrafish and leads to the hyperfusion of the capillary networks in mice [22]. Point mutations of Dll4 in zebrafish and haplo-insufficiency of Dll4 in mice abrogate Notch signaling and phenocopy treatment with γ -secretase inhibitors. In addition, antisense morpholinos against Notch signaling factor *Dll4* [20,23], *notch1b* [23], and *rbpja* (recombining binding protein suppressor of hairless) [20] induce excessive branching in zebrafish. Collectively these findings demonstrate that active Notch signaling modulates angiogenesis by inhibiting sprouting and branching.

Increasing evidence suggests that Notch signaling coordinates angiogenesis through transcriptional regulation of multiple angiogenic factors [24]. Neuropilin-1 (Nrp1), a co-receptor of VEGF-A, is negatively regulated by Notch activation [25]. Flt-4, a VEGF-C receptor that is a critical regulator of lymphangiogenesis, is strongly expressed at the vascular front. Blocking Notch signaling leads to widespread Flt-4 expression and excessive tip cell activity, and blocking antibodies against Flt-4 partially restored normal sprouting [20,26]. Notch activation also negatively regulates VEGFR-2 expression [27], and the downstream Notch transcription factor HESR1 (CHF2) can directly repress the VEGFR-2 promoter [28]. In contrast, VEGFR-1 (Flt-1) is positively regulated by Notch signaling [29,30]. VEGFR-1 acts as a competitive inhibitor for the VEGFR-2 receptor [31,32], and its increased expression in stalk cells may restrict the responsiveness of these endothelial cells to VEGF-A [33,34]. Thus Notch signaling appears to regulate tip cell dynamics through its effects on multiple angiogenic factors.

In addition, Notch signaling is regulated downstream of growth factor signaling pathways. Wnt/ β -catenin signaling up-regulates Dll4 transcription and activates Notch signaling in blood vessels. Consequently, β -catenin over-expression resembles Notch over-expression (excessive stalk cell) phenotype, and Wnt disruption resembles the Notch loss-of-function phenotype (excessive tip cells) [35]. VEGF-A signaling also induces Dll4 expression in endothelial cells, demonstrating that Notch mediated angiogenesis involves complex regulatory loops [36–38].

Mosaic analysis was used to determine the role of Notchmediated lateral inhibition in tip cell-stalk cell dynamics in angiogenic sprouts. Notch1-deficient endothelial cells preferentially adopt tip cell characteristics in mice [22], and cells that over-express constitutive active NICD are excluded from the tip cell position in zebrafish [20]. These findings demonstrate that Notch activation induces the stalk cell phenotype. Meanwhile the absence of Notch signaling results in the tip cell phenotype, suggesting that the tip cell phenotype is the default state of angiogenic endothelial cells. Cells with low Notch activity have high VEGFR-2 and low VEGFR-1 levels and preferentially become tip cells [21].

2.2. Effects of blood flow on vessel sprouting

Hemodynamic forces play a critical role in the maturation and patterning of vascular beds, but the relationship between sprouting and blood flow is complex [39,40]. For example, the remodeling of the mouse volk sac from a honevcomb-like plexus into a hierarchical vascular network temporally coincides with the initiation of circulation and the cessation of sprouting [41]. Embryos without circulation or lacking erythroblasts in circulation fail to remodel, and restoration of blood viscosity rescues vessel remodeling, demonstrating that the hemodynamic forces mediate yolk sac remodeling [42]. The remodeling of the aortic arch is also dependent on hemodynamic forces, but in this case these forces are required for proper sprouting [43]. Flow induces the mechanosensitive zinc finger transcription factor klf2a in zebrafish. klf2a induces the expression of mir-126 which positively regulates VEGF signaling, and mediates the angiogenic sprouting of aortic arch vessels [44].

3. Vessel sprout guidance

Following sprout initiation, the leading tip cell likely utilizes multiple near-field guidance cues to establish a trajectory outward. As the sprout continues extending outward, long-range molecular factors likely instruct vessel trajectory for fusion and eventual branch formation, and they may also stabilize the sprout or induce regression. These short- and long-range guidance cues likely contribute to vessel patterning differentially depending on the tissue bed, as some regions of the vasculature pattern in a highly stereotypical manner while other regions exhibit more "freely-formed" patterning (Fig. 2). We discuss these aspects of sprout guidance and vascular patterning in the following sections.

3.1. Local sprout guidance cues

Among the most important of guidance cues for endothelial sprouts is VEGF-A [45]. Alternative splicing yields three primary VEGF-A isoforms, each with unique extracellular matrix (ECM) binding affinities based on the presence or absence of heparinbinding domains [46]. This variable affinity for the ECM results in the proper spatial distribution of VEGF-A and thus provides important vessel patterning cues that are lost when VEGF-A isoforms are genetically perturbed [16,47]. We have recently found evidence for further refinement of local VEGF-A gradients through increased expression of soluble VEGFR-1 (sVEGFR-1) by endothelial cells adjacent to a nascent sprout [33]. These localized counter-gradients of sVEGFR-1 reduce the availability of VEGF-A in the regions adjacent to the sprout and create a more directed vector of VEGF-A to properly guide the sprout away from the parent vessel, a behavior that is disrupted when the lateral base cells cannot express sVEGFR-1 (Fig. 2). Near-field gradients of available VEGF-A might also be reinforced through the release of matrix-bound VEGF-A by protease cleavage [48,49] or endothelial VEGF-A production [50,51]. In contrast, VEGF-A retained by the ECM likely enhances sprout guidance, resulting in more productive branch formation [52,53]. Thus, a number of mechanisms positively and negatively regulate the spatial presentation of VEGF-A for the proper guidance of endothelial sprouts and vessel morphogenesis.

Explorative filopodia extend from an emerging tip cell, and they may be enriched in VEGFR-2 to detect the chemotactic VEGF-A gradients described above [17]. In addition, the filopodial surface presents integrins such as $\alpha_1\beta_1$, $\alpha_2\beta_1$, and the α_v integrins to engage binding sites within the ECM and facilitate migration along the scaffold [54,55]. In some tissues, sprouting endothelial cells likely directly interact with other cell types in close proximity to the sprout initiation site. For example, developing zebrafish intersegmental vessel sprouts interact and migrate between the trunk somites [56,57], and mouse retinal vessel tip cells migrate along the underlying astrocyte network [17,58]. Overall, an emerging sprout integrates information from local guidance cues including soluble factors, ECM components, and cell–cell contacts, to initiate and maintain a proper outward trajectory away from a parent vessel.

3.2. Vessel sprout extension and stability

Moving beyond the local micro-environment, a vessel sprout is likely guided by longer-range patterning cues that also affect sprout stability. Attractive and repulsive signals can come from cell-cell interactions located at a distance from the sprout initiation site. For example, recognition of similarities between endothelial tip cells and axonal growth cones has grown in recent years, and guidance cues that pattern growing nerve fibers also attract and repel endothelial sprouts [59,60]. Four classes of axon guidance cues have emerged as important regulators of blood vessel patterning: Ephrin-Eph, Slit-Robo, Netrin-UNC, and Semaphorin-Plexin-Neuropilin [60]. For example, endothelial expression of the Netrin receptor UNC5b provides repulsive signaling that prevents aberrant extension of vessel sprouts into the developing somites of mice and zebrafish [19]. In contrast, an axonal guidance molecule that provides an attractive guidance cue in angiogenic sprouting is the VEGF-A co-receptor Neuropilin-1 (Nrp-1). Perturbed Nrp-1 activity impairs directional migration of endothelial tip cells, perhaps by disrupting the binding of ECMsequestered VEGF-A and the formation of a signaling complex with VEGFR-2 [61,62]. Other cues may pattern via induction of apoptosis; for example, macrophage Wnt7b is involved in regression of the hyaloid vessels that initially surround the developing eye [63]. Thus, both attractive and repulsive cues likely coordinate with growth factor signaling pathways to regulate sprout stability and reinforce a growing sprout or induce its retraction.

Notch-Delta signaling may also help ensure proper vessel guidance by longer range cues, as the tip cell may be replaced by a trailing stalk cell, via a Notch-mediated process, if this leading cell becomes misdirected and encounters lower VEGF-A concentrations [21]. This mechanism may also contribute to sprout regression, resulting in empty sleeves of ECM as seen in tumors following VEGF inhibition [64]. A poorly guided tip cell experiencing decreased VEGF signaling may in turn receive increased lateral inhibition signals from its neighbors, causing the sprout to retract and reengage in the competition for the tip cell position. However, in some models, such as the developing mouse retina, Notch inhibition leads to hyper-sprouting but not necessarily to an obvious loss of vessel guidance, suggesting differential regulation of sprout initiation and guidance by the Notch pathway [22,38]. Thus, Notch signaling may integrate growth factor signaling with other guidance cues to help redirect a straying sprout or even induce its regression and ensure proper vessel morphogenesis.

3.3. Stereotypical vs. free-form vascular patterning

The spatial organization of sprout guidance factors within certain tissues yields highly stereotypical blood vessel networks, while other tissues lack obvious guidance cues and the vessel network appears to be more freely formed (Fig. 2). An example of stereotyped vessel patterning is found in the intersomitic vasculature. Intersomitic vessels, such as the intersegmental vessels of the zebrafish, are constrained in their response to positive guidance cues such as VEGF-A by the physical barrier provided by the somite tissue and by repulsive cues generated by the somites [57,65–67]. In contrast, "free-form" vessel patterning occurs in tissues lacking obvious chemo-attractant gradients. In the developing mouse yolk sac, for instance, VEGF-A is secreted by the endoderm and mesoderm, and formation and patterning of yolk sac vessels is impaired when endoderm expression of VEGF-A is lost [68]. Blood vessel expansion in the developing yolk sac lateral plane occurs initially through angiogenic sprouting, and the onset of blood flow subsequently induces extensive vessel remodeling [41]. The initial yolk sac vessels are evenly spaced and appear to have comparably sized lumens, yet little is known as to the mechanisms regulating this architecture. Notch signaling has been implicated in regulating yolk sac vessel formation [69,70], but it is precise role remains unclear. Negative cues from the endothelium, such as soluble VEGFR-1, may refine localized gradients of available VEGF-A to facilitate proper vessel sprout guidance and may also contribute to patterning this well-branched plexus.

4. Sprout maturation into a vascular branch

The fusion of a tip cell with a target vessel or sprout is an essential step in the formation of a new vessel segment. After the anastamosis of two vessels occurs, this nascent branch acquires a lumen to facilitate the flow of blood. These resolution phases of vessel sprouting are currently not well understood, but recent observations shed some light on the mechanisms underlying sprout fusion and lumen formation.

4.1. Blood vessel sprout fusion

A properly guided, stable sprout begins the transformation into a nascent vascular branch by fusing with an existing vessel or sprout. Fixed image analysis and computational modeling of endothelial tip cells in the developing mouse retina suggests that interactions between filopodia from two approaching cells initiates the formation of a junction [71]. Consistent with these data, dynamic imaging of sprouting endothelial cells in developing ES cell-derived vessels has revealed that, as a tip cell approaches a potential fusion site, the target cell extends filopodial protrusions that appear to engage filopodia from the sprouting tip cell [Chappell JC, Bautch VL, unpublished observations]. In this way, these cells presumably establish and reinforce their connection via increased cell-cell junctions [58,72]. Alternatively, failure to strengthen junctional contacts may lead to repulsion of the sprouting tip cell, diverting the sprout to another destination or inducing retraction. For example, tip cells in zebrafish intersegmental vessels that lack proper Notch signaling remain highly motile and thus do not form proper connections with the dorsal longitudinal anastomotic vessel (DLAV) [23]. Recent evidence from Ruhrberg and co-workers suggests that sprout fusion may be regulated further by embryonic macrophages that bridge the connection between a sprouting endothelial cell and its target [73]. Loss of macrophage activity perturbed branching complexity of blood vessels in the mouse embryonic hindbrain and postnatal retina, and macrophages were observed at presumptive tip cell fusion sites in the developing vasculature of mice and zebrafish. In contrast, Stefater et al. have recently identified a role for myeloid cells in repelling growing sprouts to pattern the retinal deep vascular layer, suggesting that macrophages have distinct roles at different phases of blood vessel formation [74]. Sprout fusion may therefore result from filopodia interactions and adhesions, and this increased cell-cell contact potentially enhances Notch signaling to reduce tip cell motility and stabilize the connection for further maturation. However, how the partner is recognized and chosen for fusion, especially in the "free-form" vessel patterning described above, is unknown.

4.2. Lumen formation

The vascular lumen must expand through a stably connected sprout so that blood can flow through the new branch [75]. Several recently published studies on lumen formation in developing vessels suggest that mechanisms governing this process are likely tissue-specific. In the mouse retina, the lumen extends to just behind the tip cell as the sprout is migrating outward [17]. Thus pressure from the blood or other unidentified mechanisms maintain lumen patency up to the tip cell so that primarily the fused tip cells undergo changes to form new luminal connections. Lammert and co-workers demonstrated that in the developing mouse aorta endothelial cells polarize and set up cell shape changes that result in lumen formation [76]. Cleaver and co-workers showed that perturbation of a Rho activator prevented lumenization of all vessels, suggesting that polarized shape changes may underlie vessel lumenization more globally [77]. Additionally, an investigation of the sialic acids found on vessel apical surface glycoproteins showed that loss of the negative charge impairs luminal expansion, suggesting that electrostatic repulsion normally acts to force apart adjacent cells and expand the lumen [78]. Alternatively, vessels formed in 3D collagen gels in vitro acquired lumens through the formation and fusion of intracellular and intercellular vesicles or vacuoles, while zebrafish intersegmental vessels have complex cell-cell interactions and lumenization patterns [79,80]. While these studies have begun to shed light on potential mechanisms underlying vascular lumen formation, our knowledge of these mechanisms remains incomplete, especially with regard to endothelial polarity cues and their role in establishing a patent lumen.

5. Conclusions and perspectives

While many gaps still remain in our understanding of blood vessel formation, we have made great strides in our knowledge of blood vessel sprouting, and the molecular regulation in both space and time that co-ordinates the endothelial cell behaviors involved in this process. The concept of phenotypic heterogeneity among endothelial cells of developing vessels, such that some endothelial cells becoming tip cells and others stalk cells, based on models proposed for tracheal development in the fly [10] and described in blood vessels by Gerhardt and Betsholtz [17], has allowed for a detailed molecular dissection of the cross-talk involved in establishing these endothelial phenotypes. We now know that, in addition to VEGF signaling, endothelial cross-talk via Notch–Delta–Jagged signaling is critical to proper vessel sprouting. We are beginning to appreciate that other signals, such as BMP and Wnt, are also involved in regulation of vessel sprouting.

There are still many open questions and areas where improving technologies will lead to new insights. One important question regards the spatial organization of signals and responses – our ability to place signals and pathway readouts in a spatial grid is primitive. Once signals leave the source cell they are very difficult to track in biological systems, and reporter readouts of pathway activity are often insensitive. Moreover, our ability to document such events in time is even more primitive, so that most spatial information is gleaned from fixed images, and dynamic changes are extrapolated. As the next generation of imaging tools comes on line, we should be able to obtain a much more accurate picture of important dynamic events in vessel sprouting.

We know very little regarding how different cellular processes are coordinated as vessels sprout. For example, while endothelial cell polarity is clearly important for the proper formation and function of vessels, we are just beginning to understand how and when polarity is initially set up. There are numerous open questions. Is polarity achieved via distinct mechanisms in different vessel types and places? How is polarity modified and re-established as new sprouts form? How is apical-basolateral polarity integrated with planar cell polarity in developing vessels? The answers to these questions will provide exciting new insights into blood vessel sprouting.

The regulation of the resolution phases of vessel sprouting is still a black box. We do not understand how sprouts find a partner for fusion, and how the fusion with other sprouts or vessels and formation of contiguous lumenized vessels occurs. As with the tip cell concept, in this arena paradigms first described in the fly trachea are providing templates for investigations of these events in developing vessel networks.

Finally, we do not know how general or tissue-specific are the paradigms of vessel sprouting. Blood vessels sprout in many different environments and situations during the course of development. This suggests that the process is robust, which implies that there may be multiple ways to initiate and regulate sprouting. This is especially important to keep in mind because most of the recent work has utilized a limited number of models, including the post-natal mouse retina and intersegmental vessel formation in zebrafish. Our recent finding that sprouting from the caudal vein of the zebrafish requires BMP and not VEGF-A [81] suggests that there may be multiple ways to make a sprout. This is a good thing, since blood vessel sprouting is necessary for development and function of all vertebrate organisms.

Acknowledgements

We thank members of the Bautch and Jin labs for stimulating discussions. This work was funded by NIH grants (HL43174 and HL86465 to V.L.B.), NIH NRSA Post-doctoral Fellowship F32 HL95359 (J.C.C.) and an AHA Pre-doctoral Fellowship 10PRE3290010 (D.M.W.).

References

- [1] Risau W. Mechanisms of angiogenesis. Nature 1997;386:671-4.
- [2] Larrivee B, Freitas C, Suchting S, Brunet I, Eichmann A. Guidance of vascular development: lessons from the nervous system. Circ Res 2009;104:428–41.
- [3] Cleaver O, Krieg PA. Molecular mechanisms of vascular development. In: Harvey RP, Rosenthal N, editors. Heart development. New York: Academic Press; 1999. p. 221–52.
- [4] Coultas L, Chawengsaksophak K, Rossant J. Endothelial cells and VEGF in vascular development. Nature 2005;438:937–45.
- [5] Hogan KA, Bautch VL. Blood vessel patterning at the embryonic midline. Curr Topics Dev Biol 2004;62:55–85.
- [6] Ferrara N, Gerber HP, LeCouter J. The biology of VEGF and its receptors. Nat Med 2003;9:669–76.

- [7] Shweiki D, Itin A, Soffer D, Keshet E. Vascular endothelial growth factor induced by hypoxia may mediate hypoxia-initiated angiogenesis. Nature 1992;359:843–5.
- [8] Kater SB, Rehder V. The sensory-motor role of growth cone filopodia. Curr Opin Neurobiol 1995;5:68–74.
- [9] Ribeiro C, Ebner A, Affolter M. In vivo imaging reveals different cellular functions for FGF and Dpp signaling in tracheal branching morphogenesis. Dev Cell 2002;2:677–83.
- [10] Ghabrial AS, Krasnow MA. Social interactions among epithelial cells during tracheal branching morphogenesis. Nature 2006;441:746–9.
- [11] Holderfield MT, Hughes CC. Crosstalk between vascular endothelial growth factor, notch, and transforming growth factor-beta in vascular morphogenesis. Circ Res 2008;102:637–52.
- [12] Roca C, Adams RH. Regulation of vascular morphogenesis by Notch signaling. Genes Dev 2007;21:2511-24.
- [13] Gridley T. Notch signaling in the vasculature. Curr Top Dev Biol 2010;92:277–309.
- [14] Artavanis-Tsakonas S, Rand MD, Lake RJ. Notch signaling: cell fate control and signal integration in development. Science 1999;284:770–6.
- [15] Dorrell MI, Aguilar E, Friedlander M. Retinal vascular development is mediated by endothelial filopodia, a preexisting astrocytic template and specific R-cadherin adhesion. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2002;43:3500–10.
- [16] Ruhrberg C, Gerhardt H, Golding M, Watson R, Ioannidou S, Fujisawa H, et al. Spatially restricted patterning cues provided by heparin-binding VEGF-A control blood vessel branching morphogenesis. Genes Dev 2002;16:2684–98.
- [17] Gerhardt H, Golding M, Fruttiger M, Ruhrberg C, Lundkvist A, Abramsson A, et al. VEGF guides angiogenic sprouting utilizing endothelial tip cell filopodia. J Cell Biol 2003;161:1163–77.
- [18] Claxton S, Fruttiger M. Periodic Delta-like 4 expression in developing retinal arteries. Gene Express Patterns 2004;5:123–7.
- [19] Lu X, Le Noble F, Yuan L, Jiang Q, De Lafarge B, Sugiyama D, et al. The netrin receptor UNC5b mediates guidance events controlling morphogenesis of the vascular system. Nature 2004;432:179–86.
- [20] Siekmann AF, Lawson ND. Notch signalling limits angiogenic cell behaviour in developing zebrafish arteries. Nature 2007;445:781–4.
- [21] Jakobsson L, Franco CA, Bentley K, Collins RT, Ponsioen B, Aspalter IM, et al. Endothelial cells dynamically compete for the tip cell position during angiogenic sprouting. Nat Cell Biol 2010;12:943–53.
- [22] Hellstrom M, Phng LK, Hofmann JJ, Wallgard E, Coultas L, Lindblom P, et al. Dll4 signalling through Notch1 regulates formation of tip cells during angiogenesis. Nature 2007;445:776–80.
- [23] Leslie JD, Ariza-McNaughton L, Bermange AL, McAdow R, Johnson SL, Lewis J. Endothelial signalling by the Notch ligand Delta-like 4 restricts angiogenesis. Development 2007;134:839–44.
- [24] Siekmann AF, Covassin L, Lawson ND. Modulation of VEGF signalling output by the Notch pathway. Bioessays 2008;30:303–13.
- [25] Williams CK, Li JL, Murga M, Harris AL, Tosato G. Up-regulation of the Notch ligand Delta-like 4 inhibits VEGF-induced endothelial cell function. Blood 2006;107:931–9.
- [26] Tammela T, Zarkada G, Wallgard E, Murtomaki A, Suchting S, Wirzenius M, et al. Blocking VEGFR-3 suppresses angiogenic sprouting and vascular network formation. Nature 2008;454:656–60.
- [27] Henderson AM, Wang S-J, Taylor AC, Aitkenhead M, Hughes CCW. The basic helix-loop-helix transcription factor HESR1 regulates endothelial Cell tube formation. J Biol Chem 2001;276:6169–76.
- [28] Holderfield MT, Henderson Anderson AM, Kokubo H, Chin MT, Johnson RL, Hughes CC. HESR1/CHF2 suppresses VEGFR2 transcription independent of binding to E-boxes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2006;346:637–48.
- [29] Harrington LS, Sainson RC, Williams CK, Taylor JM, Shi W, Li JL, et al. Regulation of multiple angiogenic pathways by Dll4 and Notch in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. Microvasc Res 2008;75:144–54.
- [30] Funahashi Y, Shawber CJ, Vorontchikhina M, Sharma A, Outtz HH, Kitajewski J. Notch regulates the angiogenic response via induction of VEGFR-1. J Angiogenes Res 2010;2:3.
- [31] Fong GH, Rossant J, Gertsenstein M, Breitman ML. Role of the Flt-1 receptor tyrosine kinase in regulating the assembly of vascular endothelium. Nature 1995;376:66–70.
- [32] Roberts DM, Kearney JB, Johnson JH, Rosenberg MP, Kumar R, Bautch VL. The vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) receptor Flt-1 (VEGFR-1) modulates Flk-1 (VEGFR-2) signaling during blood vessel formation. Am J Pathol 2004;164:1531–5.
- [33] Chappell JC, Taylor SM, Ferrara N, Bautch VL. Local guidance of emerging vessel sprouts requires soluble Flt-1. Dev Cell 2009;17:377–86.
- [34] Krueger J, Liu D, Scholz K, Zimmer A, Shi Y, Klein C, et al. Flt1 acts as a negative regulator of tip cell formation and branching morphogenesis in the zebrafish embryo. Development 2011;138:2111–20.
- [35] Corada M, Nyqvist D, Orsenigo F, Caprini A, Giampietro C, Taketo MM, et al. The Wnt/[beta]-catenin pathway modulates vascular remodeling and specification by upregulating Dll4/Notch signaling. Dev Cell 2010;18:938–49.
- [36] Liu ZJ, Shirakawa T, Li Y, Soma A, Oka M, Dotto GP, et al. Regulation of Notch1 and Dll4 by vascular endothelial growth factor in arterial endothelial cells: implications for modulating arteriogenesis and angiogenesis. Mol Cell Biol 2003;23:14–25.
- [37] Lobov IB, Renard RA, Papadopoulos N, Gale NW, Thurston G, Yancopoulos GD, et al. Delta-like ligand 4 (Dll4) is induced by VEGF as a negative regulator of angiogenic sprouting. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007;104:3219–24.

- [38] Suchting S, Freitas C, le Noble F, Benedito R, Breant C, Duarte A, et al. The Notch ligand Delta-like 4 negatively regulates endothelial tip cell formation and vessel branching. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007;104:3225–30.
- [39] Jones EA, le Noble F, Eichmann A. What determines blood vessel structure? Genetic prespecification vs. hemodynamics. Physiology (Bethesda) 2006;21:388–95.
- [40] Hahn C, Schwartz MA. Mechanotransduction in vascular physiology and atherogenesis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2009;10:53–62.
- [41] Culver JC, Dickinson ME. The effects of hemodynamic force on embryonic development. Microcirculation 2010;17:164–78.
- [42] Lucitti JL, Jones EA, Huang C, Chen J, Fraser SE, Dickinson ME. Vascular remodeling of the mouse yolk sac requires hemodynamic force. Development 2007;134:3317–26.
- [43] Yashiro K, Shiratori H, Hamada H. Haemodynamics determined by a genetic programme govern asymmetric development of the aortic arch. Nature 2007;450:285–8.
- [44] Nicoli S, Standley C, Walker P, Hurlstone A, Fogarty KE, Lawson ND. MicroRNA-mediated integration of haemodynamics and Vegf signalling during angiogenesis. Nature 2010;464:1196–200.
- [45] Gerhardt H. VEGF and endothelial guidance in angiogenic sprouting. Organogenesis 2008;4:241–6.
- [46] Tischer E, Mitchell R, Hartman T, Silva M, Gospodarowicz D, Fiddes JC, et al. The human gene for vascular endothelial growth factor. Multiple protein forms are encoded through alternative exon splicing. J Biol Chem 1991;266:11947–54.
- [47] Stalmans I, Ng YS, Rohan R, Fruttiger M, Bouche A, Yuce A, et al. Arteriolar and venular patterning in retinas of mice selectively expressing VEGF isoforms. J Clin Invest 2002;109:327–36.
- [48] Helm CL, Fleury ME, Zisch AH, Boschetti F, Swartz MA. Synergy between interstitial flow and VEGF directs capillary morphogenesis in vitro through a gradient amplification mechanism. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2005;102:15779–84.
- [49] Vempati P, Mac Gabhann F, Popel AS. Quantifying the proteolytic release of extracellular matrix-sequestered VEGF with a computational model. PLoS One 2010;5:e11860.
- [50] Lee S, Chen TT, Barber CL, Jordan MC, Murdock J, Desai S, et al. Autocrine VEGF signaling is required for vascular homeostasis. Cell 2007;130:691–703.
- [51] da Silva RG, Tavora B, Robinson SD, Reynolds LE, Szekeres C, Lamar J, et al. Endothelial alpha3beta1-integrin represses pathological angiogenesis and sustains endothelial-VEGF. Am J Pathol 2010;177:1534–48.
- [52] Lee S, Jilani SM, Nikolova GV, Carpizo D, Iruela-Arispe ML. Processing of VEGF-A by matrix metalloproteinases regulates bioavailability and vascular patterning in tumors. J Cell Biol 2005;169:681–91.
- [53] Chen TT, Luque A, Lee S, Anderson SM, Segura T, Iruela-Arispe ML. Anchorage of VEGF to the extracellular matrix conveys differential signaling responses to endothelial cells. I Cell Biol 2010:188:595–609.
- [54] Hynes RO. A reevaluation of integrins as regulators of angiogenesis. Nat Med 2002;8:918-21.
- [55] Anderson CR, Ponce AM, Price RJ. Immunohistochemical identification of an extracellular matrix scaffold that microguides capillary sprouting in vivo. J Histochem Cytochem 2004;52:1063–72.
- [56] Lawson ND, Weinstein BM. In vivo imaging of embryonic vascular development using transgenic zebrafish. Dev Biol 2002;248:307–18.
- [57] Isogai S, Lawson ND, Torrealday S, Horiguchi M, Weinstein BM. Angiogenic network formation in the developing vertebrate trunk. Development 2003;130:5281–90.
- [58] Dorrell MI, Aguilar E, Friedlander M. Retinal vascular development is mediated by endothelial filopodia, a preexisting astrocytic template and specific R-cadherin adhesion. Invest Ophth Vis Sci 2002;43:3500–10.
- [59] Carmeliet P, Tessier-Lavigne M. Common mechanisms of nerve and blood vessel wiring. Nature 2005;436:193–200.
- [60] Adams RH, Eichmann A. Axon guidance molecules in vascular patterning. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 2010;2:a001875.

- [61] Gerhardt H, Ruhrberg C, Abramsson A, Fujisawa H, Shima D, Betsholtz C. Neuropilin-1 is required for endothelial tip cell guidance in the developing central nervous system. Dev Dyn 2004;231:503–9.
- [62] Jones EA, Yuan L, Breant C, Watts RJ, Eichmann A. Separating genetic and hemodynamic defects in neuropilin 1 knockout embryos. Development 2008;135:2479–88.
- [63] Lobov IB, Rao S, Carroll TJ, Vallance JE, Ito M, Ondr JK, et al. WNT7b mediates macrophage-induced programmed cell death in patterning of the vasculature. Nature 2005;437:417–21.
- [64] Mancuso MR, Davis R, Norberg SM, O'Brien S, Sennino B, Nakahara T, et al. Rapid vascular regrowth in tumors after reversal of VEGF inhibition. J Clin Invest 2006;116:2610–21.
- [65] Childs S, Chen JN, Garrity DM, Fishman MC. Patterning of angiogenesis in the zebrafish embryo. Development 2002;129:973–82.
- [66] Zhong TP. Zebrafish genetics and formation of embryonic vasculature. Curr Top Dev Biol 2005;71:53–81.
- [67] Zygmunt T, Gay CM, Blondelle J, Singh MK, Flaherty KM, Means PC, et al. Semaphorin-PlexinD1 signaling limits angiogenic potential via the VEGF decoy receptor sFlt1. Dev Cell 2011;21:301–14.
- [68] Damert A, Miquerol L, Gertsenstein M, Risau W, Nagy A. Insufficient VEGFA activity in yolk sac endoderm compromises haematopoietic and endothelial differentiation. Development 2002;129:1881–92.
- [69] Krebs LT, Starling C, Chervonsky AV, Gridley T. Notch1 activation in mice causes arteriovenous malformations phenocopied by ephrinB2 and EphB4 mutants. Genesis 2010;48:146-50.
- [70] Copeland JN, Feng Y, Neradugomma NK, Fields PE, Vivian JL. Notch signaling regulates remodeling and vessel diameter in the extraembryonic yolk sac. BMC Dev Biol 2011;11:12.
- [71] Bentley K, Mariggi G, Gerhardt H, Bates PA. Tipping the balance: robustness of tip cell selection, migration and fusion in angiogenesis. PLoS Comput Biol 2009;5:e1000549.
- [72] Almagro S, Durmort C, Chervin-Petinot A, Heyraud S, Dubois M, Lambert O, et al. The motor protein myosin-X transports VE-cadherin along filopodia to allow the formation of early endothelial cell-cell contacts. Mol Cell Biol 2010;30:1703-17.
- [73] Fantin A, Vieira JM, Gestri G, Denti L, Schwarz Q, Prykhozhij S, et al. Tissue macrophages act as cellular chaperones for vascular anastomosis downstream of VEGF-mediated endothelial tip cell induction. Blood 2010;116: 829–40.
- [74] Stefater 3rd JA, Lewkowich I, Rao S, Mariggi G, Carpenter AC, Burr AR, et al. Regulation of angiogenesis by a non-canonical Wnt-Flt1 pathway in myeloid cells. Nature 2011;474:511–5.
- [75] Iruela-Arispe ML, Davis GE. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of vascular lumen formation. Dev Cell 2009;16:222–31.
- [76] Strilic B, Kucera T, Eglinger J, Hughes MR, McNagny KM, Tsukita S, et al. The molecular basis of vascular lumen formation in the developing mouse aorta. Dev Cell 2009;17:505–15.
- [77] Xu K, Sacharidou A, Fu S, Chong DC, Skaug B, Chen ZJ, et al. Blood vessel tubulogenesis requires Rasip1 regulation of GTPase signaling. Dev Cell 2011;20:526–39.
- [78] Strilic B, Eglinger J, Krieg M, Zeeb M, Axnick J, Babal P, et al. Electrostatic cellsurface repulsion initiates lumen formation in developing blood vessels. Curr Biol 2010;20:2003–9.
- [79] Kamei M, Saunders WB, Bayless KJ, Dye L, Davis GE, Weinstein BM. Endothelial tubes assemble from intracellular vacuoles in vivo. Nature 2006;442:453–6.
- [80] Blum Y, Belting HG, Ellertsdottir E, Herwig L, Luders F, Affolter M. Complex cell rearrangements during intersegmental vessel sprouting and vessel fusion in the zebrafish embryo. Dev Biol 2008;316:312–22.
- [81] Wiley DM, Kim JD, Hao J, Hong CC, Bautch VL, Jin SW. Distinct signalling pathways regulate sprouting angiogenesis from the dorsal aorta and the axial vein. Nat Cell Biol 2011;13:686–92.